United Nations  $E_{\text{CN.17/2007/9}}$ 



## **Economic and Social Council**

Distr.: General 8 March 2007

Original: English

## **Commission on Sustainable Development**

Fifteenth session

30 April-11 May 2007

Agenda item 3

The matic cluster for the implementation cycle 2006-2007 — policy session

## **Report of the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting**

## Contents

			Paragraphs	Page
I.	Organization of the session.		1-21	2
	A.	Opening and duration of the session	1–4	2
	B.	Agenda and organization of work	5-7	2
	C.	Proceedings of the session	8-18	3
	D.	Attendance	19–20	5
	E.	Documentation	21	5
II.	Chairman's draft negotiating text.		22	6
	A.	Energy for sustainable development		7
	B.	Industrial development		9
	C.	Air pollution/atmosphere		11
	D.	Climate change		13
	E.	Interlinkages and cross-cutting issues, including means of implementation		15
	F.	Review and follow-up.		16
III.	Ado	option of the report of the Intergovernmental Preparatory meeting	23-24	17

## I. Organization of the session

## A. Opening and duration of the session

- 1. The Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the fifteenth session of the Commission on Sustainable Development was held in New York from 26 February to 2 March 2007 in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 2005/228 of 20 July 2005. The Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting held nine meetings. Interactive discussions on the themes of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change were held at the 2nd to 7th meetings, on 26 to 28 February and 1 March 2007. Interactive discussions on the interlinkages and cross-cutting issues, including means of implementation, relevant to the same themes were held at the 7th meeting, on 1 March.
- 2. The session was opened by the Chairman of the fifteenth session of the Commission, Abdullah bin Hamad Al-Attiyah (Qatar), who made an introductory statement.
- 3. The Director of the Division for Sustainable Development, Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat, introduced the reports of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on: energy for sustainable development (E/CN.17/2007/2), industrial development (E/CN.17/2007/3), air pollution/atmosphere (E/CN.17/2007/4) and climate change (E/CN.17/2007/5), as well as on interlinkages and cross-cutting issues (E/CN.17/2007/6).
- 4. At the 1st meeting, on 26 February, statements were made by the representatives of Pakistan (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the Group of 77 and China), Germany (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the European Union) and the United States of America.

### B. Agenda and organization of work

- 5. At its 1st meeting, on 26 February 2007, the Meeting adopted its provisional agenda and approved its organization of work, as contained in document E/CN.17/IPM/2007/1 and Corr.1. The agenda was as follows:
  - 1. Adoption of the agenda and other organizational matters.
  - 2. Policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation:
    - (a) Energy for sustainable development;
    - (b) Industrial development;
    - (c) Air pollution/atmosphere;
    - (d) Climate change.
  - 3. Other matters.
  - 4. Adoption of the report of the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting.

- 6. At the same meeting, the Meeting approved the accreditation of the Centre on Integrated Rural Development for Asia and the Pacific and the Organization of Arab Petroleum Exporting Countries to participate as observers in its current session.
- 7. Also at the 1st meeting, it was agreed that the candidate for Vice-Chairman endorsed by the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States, Luiz Alberto Figueiredo Machado (Brazil), would act in that capacity during the Meeting, until his formal election at the beginning of the Commission's fifteenth session. The Meeting was then informed that the Vice-Chairman, Alain Edouard Traoré (Burkina Faso), would also serve as Rapporteur of the fifteenth session of the Commission and its Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting.

### C. Proceedings of the session

- 8. At its 1st meeting, on 26 February 2007, the Director of the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Iceland, made a statement on the outcome of the International Seminar on the Hydrogen Economy for Sustainable Development, held in Reykjavik, on 28 and 29 September 2006.
- 9. At the same meeting, the representative of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (who spoke also on behalf of the Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia) and the representatives of the Economic Commission for Africa, the Economic Commission for Europe and the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific made statements presenting the outcomes of their deliberations related to policy options and possible actions to address region-specific obstacles to, and constraints on, meeting commitments related to the thematic cluster on energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change.
- 10. Also at its 1st meeting, the Meeting heard statements from the representatives of major groups on their views on policy options and possible actions relevant to the themes of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change, as contained in the note by the Secretariat (E/CN.17/2007/7) entitled "Major groups' priorities for action in energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change". Statements were made by the representatives of the Women's Environment and Development Organization, on behalf of the women's group; the Global Youth Action Network, on behalf of the children and youth group; the International Indian Treaty Council, on behalf of the indigenous peoples group; the Third World Network, on behalf of the non-governmental organizations group; Local Governments for Sustainability, on behalf of the local authorities group; the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, on behalf of the workers and trade unions group; the International Chamber of Commerce, on behalf of the business and industry group; the International Council for Science, on behalf of the scientific and technological communities group; and the International Federation of Agricultural Producers, on behalf of the farmers group.
- 11. Participation by major groups included representatives of 45 accredited organizations. Their views on policy options and possible actions relevant to the themes of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere and climate change were integrated into the thematic

discussions that were held throughout the week. Representatives from each major group were invited to make closing remarks at the conclusion of the meeting.

- 12. At its 2nd meeting, on 26 February, the Meeting held an interactive panel discussion on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on the themes of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change, relating to small island developing States. The panellists were Leslie Walling, Executive Director of the Caribbean Conservation Association; Paul Fairbairn, Manager of the Community Lifelines Programme of the Secretariat of the Pacific Islands Applied Geoscience Commission; and Tom Goreau, President of the Global Coral Reef Alliance. The Vice-Chairperson, Frances Lisson (Australia), summarized the salient points that resulted from the interactive discussion.
- 13. At its 3rd and 4th meetings, on 27 February, the Meeting held an interactive panel discussion on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on the theme of energy for sustainable development. The panellists were Bikash Pandey, Clean Energy Programme of Winrock, Pakistan; Shahmar Movsumov, Executive Director of the State Oil Fund of Azerbaijan and Chair of the National Committee for Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative; and Hasan Qabazard, Director of the Research Division of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries. The Vice-Chairperson, Frances Lisson (Australia), summarized the salient points that had resulted from the interactive discussion.
- 14. At its 4th meeting, on 27 February, the Meeting held an interactive panel discussion on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on the theme of industrial development. The panellists were Nabil Nasr, Director of the Center for Integrated Manufacturing Studies, Rochester Institute of Technology, Rochester, New York; and Annabella Rosenberg, member of the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, Argentina. The Vice-Chairmen, Luiz Alberto Figueiredo Machado (Brazil) and Jiří Hlaváček (Czech Republic), summarized the salient points that had resulted from the interactive discussion.
- 15. At its 5th meeting, on 28 February, the Meeting held an interactive panel discussion on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on the theme of air pollution/atmosphere. The panellists were Hilal Raza, Director-General and Chief Executive Officer of the Hydrocarbon Institute of Pakistan; and Brian Doll, Exxon Mobil representative to and Chair of the Fuel Group of the International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation Association. The Vice-Chairpersons, Frances Lisson (Australia) and Alain Edouard Traoré (Burkina Faso), summarized the salient points that had resulted from the interactive discussion.
- 16. At its 6th and 7th meetings, on 28 February and 1 March, the Meeting held an interactive panel discussion on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation on the theme of climate change. The panellists were José Domingos Miguez, Chair of the Executive Board of the Clean Development Mechanism; and Richard Moss, Senior Director, United Nations Foundation Sustainable Energy and Climate Change Programme and Visiting Senior Research Scientist, Earth Systems Science Interdisciplinary Center of the University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland. The Vice-Chairman, Luiz Alberto Figueiredo Machado (Brazil), summarized the salient points that had resulted from the interactive discussion.

- 17. At its 7th meeting, on 1 March, the Meeting held an interactive discussion on policy options and possible actions to address barriers and constraints in relation to interlinkages among the four thematic issues of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change, as well as cross-cutting issues, including means of implementation. The Vice-Chairmen, Luiz Alberto Figueiredo Machado (Brazil) and Jiří Hlaváček (Czech Republic), summarized the salient points that had resulted from the interactive discussion.
- 18. Partnerships activities were organized at the Meeting, featuring "Partnerships in practice" interactive thematic sessions to foster discussions on practical issues, identify challenges and exchange lessons learned related to the implementation of sustainable development through partnerships. In keeping with the policy year focus on policy options and possible actions to expedite the implementation of sustainable development commitments, these partnership thematic discussions highlighted "on-the-ground" experiences from partnership practitioners. The "Partnerships in practice" interactive discussion sessions were chaired by the Vice-Chairman of the Commission at its fifteenth session, Luis Alberto Figueiredo Machado (Brazil) (for additional information on partnerships activities, see http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/partnerships/partnerships.htm).

#### D. Attendance

- 19. The Meeting was attended by representatives of 48 States members of the Commission on Sustainable Development. Observers for other States Members of the United Nations and the European Community, representatives of organizations of the United Nations system and observers for intergovernmental organizations and major groups also attended.
- 20. The list of participants of the Meeting is contained in document E/CN.17/IPM/2007/INF.1 (see also http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/csd/csd15/csd15 ipm.htm).

#### E. Documentation

- 21. The Meeting had before it the following documents:
- (a) Report of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation: energy for sustainable development (E/CN.17/2007/2);
- (b) Report of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation: industrial development (E/CN.17/2007/3);
- (c) Report of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation: air pollution/atmosphere (E/CN.17/2007/4);
- (d) Report of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation: climate change (E/CN.17/2007/5);
- (e) Report of the Secretary-General on policy options and possible actions to expedite implementation: interlinkages and cross-cutting issues (E/CN.17/2007/6);
- (f) Note by the Secretariat on major groups' priorities for action in energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere, and climate change (E/CN.17/2007/7);

(g) Letter dated 26 January 2007 from the Permanent Representative of Iceland to the United Nations addressed to the Secretary-General, transmitting a summary of the conclusions and recommendations of the International Seminar on the Hydrogen Economy for Sustainable Development, held in Reykjavik on 28 and 29 September 2006 (E/CN.17/2007/8).

## II. Chairman's draft negotiating text<sup>1</sup>

22. The Meeting decided to transmit to the Commission the following draft negotiating text:

[Title to be negotiated]

The Commission on Sustainable Development,

Reaffirming the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, particularly its principle 7 on common but differentiated responsibilities, Agenda 21, the Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda 21, the Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable Development and the Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development (Johannesburg Plan of Implementation), the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development, the Declaration of Barbados and the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States, the Mauritius Declaration and the Mauritius Strategy for the Further Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States,

Reaffirming the continuing need to ensure a balance among economic development, social development and environmental protection as interdependent and mutually reinforcing pillars of sustainable development,

Reaffirming that eradicating poverty, changing unsustainable patterns of production and consumption and protecting and managing the natural resources base of economic and social development are overarching objectives of, and essential requirements for, sustainable development,

*Emphasizing* that strong interlinkages exist among the four issues in the thematic cluster and policies and measures aimed at one issue may have co-benefits for other issues,

*Emphasizing* that the cross-cutting issues as defined by the Commission on Sustainable Development at its eleventh session are vital in addressing the interlinkages in this thematic cluster,

Noting the outcomes of the fourteenth session of the Commission and the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for its fifteenth session, in particular the identification of obstacles and constraints, as well as lessons learned and best practices in implementation in the thematic cluster of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere and climate change,

Prepared by the Chairman of the fifteenth session of the Commission on Sustainable Development, in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 2003/61.

Further noting the previously agreed provisions and decisions in relation to the thematic cluster,

*Decides* to call upon Governments and the United Nations system, working in partnership with major groups and other stakeholders, to take action as set out in the annex to the present resolution.

#### Annex

[Title to be negotiated]

#### A. Energy for sustainable development

- 1. Energy is crucial for sustainable development.
- 2. Given that fossil fuels will continue to play a dominant role in the energy mix in the decades to come, the development and use of advanced and cleaner fossil fuel technologies should be increased. More efforts should go into supporting the further development and dissemination of those technologies.
- 3. Diversify energy supply and develop advanced, cleaner, more efficient, affordable and cost-effective energy technologies, hydro-fuels and biofuels and their transfer to developing countries on concessional terms, as mutually agreed. With a sense of urgency, substantially increase the global share of renewable energy supply, recognize the role of national and voluntary regional targets, as well as initiatives, where they exist, and ensure that energy policies are supportive to developing countries' efforts to eradicate poverty, and regularly evaluate available data to review progress to this end. In that context:
- (a) Access to energy is crucial to economic and social development and the eradication of poverty;
- (b) Integrate energy access into national sustainable development strategies, poverty reduction strategies, development planning frameworks, and on the donor side, into development cooperation policies;
- (c) Encourage the integration of diversified energy policies into national sustainable development strategies, poverty reduction strategies or other national planning frameworks;
- (d) Support clear actions and measures for the expansion of energy services to the poor, in particular in rural and remote areas in developing countries, including least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States;
- (e) Ensure access to modern energy services and advanced energy technologies, using the full range of available energy sources and options;
- (f) Expand the use of cleaner fuels for heating and cooking, including liquefied petroleum gas;
- (g) Expand the use of renewable sources of energy, as appropriate, including biofuels, hydropower, geothermal, wind, solar and other forms of renewable energy;
- (h) Further develop energy storage and transmission infrastructure, including pipelines and regional electricity interconnections;

- (i) Support efforts to increase the share of renewable energy in accordance with the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation and national plans, where applicable;
- (j) Facilitate public participation in and understanding of energy policies and practices;
- (k) Increase the involvement of women in the planning, designing and implementation of energy programmes;
- (l) Promote networking among centres of excellence on energy for sustainable development;
- (m) Strengthen support for public and private partnerships in energy research and development, including cleaner and advanced fossil-fuel technologies and renewable energy;
- (n) Accelerate the development, dissemination and deployment of affordable and cleaner energy-efficiency and energy-conservation technologies;
- (o) Encourage the transfer and dissemination of cleaner technologies, including cleaner and advanced fossil-fuel technologies;
- (p) Move forward rapidly with initiatives for full-scale demonstration and deployment of carbon capture and storage and enhanced oil recovery technologies;
  - (q) Expand the sustainable production and use of bioenergy;
- (r) Strengthen support for the transfer of environmentally sound and affordable technologies through North-South and South-South cooperation;
- (s) Encourage international financial institutions and the Global Environment Facility to expand their support for energy efficiency, renewable energy and cleaner and advanced fossil-fuel technology and facilitate access to funding for developing countries, including least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States;
- (t) Support transition to the use of cleaner liquid and gaseous fossil fuel, including through creating appropriate investment conditions for trade in liquefied natural gas and develop a global market in liquefied natural gas to increase access to energy;
  - (u) Remove environmentally harmful and market-distorting subsidies;
- (v) Enhance investment in the development of the resource base, including fossil fuels, biofuels, renewable energy and other sources of energy;
- (w) Improve energy efficiency in the hydrocarbon industry, in particular through the reduction of gas venting and flaring;
- (x) Strengthen the modernization, rehabilitation and capacity expansion of the electric power sector through energy efficiency improvements;
- (y) Improve productivity and better utilization of generation capacities through co-generation, fuel switching, interconnection or national electricity grids, the establishment of power pools and greater electricity trade;
- (z) Increase support for international information-sharing and benchmarking to reduce energy costs and to enhance efficiency in energy-intensive industries;

- (aa) Support the establishment of energy service companies through capacity-building at the national level;
- (bb) Strengthen building codes and support for improving insulation and the efficiency of energy use in commercial and residential buildings;
- (cc) Encourage policies and regulatory environments that include energy efficiency in the power sector, and energy efficiency standards and certification;
- (dd) Increase international support for national efforts to adopt standards and labelling for energy-efficient appliances and consumer equipment;
- (ee) Implement public procurement and demonstration projects that put energy efficiency into practice;
- (ff) Raise consumer awareness and participation in energy-efficiency and energy-savings campaigns;
  - (gg) Support the functioning of national energy markets;
- (hh) Strengthening national and regional energy-efficiency programmes and support investment in, and the transfer of, modern energy-efficiency technologies;
- (ii) Mobilize additional financial resources, including by the private sector and through microcredit and innovative funding means for renewable energy and energy efficiency;
- (jj) Strengthen South-South cooperation, including between energy exporting and energy importing developing countries;
- (kk) Mobilize financial resources from all sources and explore innovative financing and create positive investment climate at all levels to attract private capital for energy projects, including higher shares of development assistance;
  - (II) Utilize and support energy for sustainable development partnerships;
- (mm) Encourage the creation of an enabling environment for investment by removing barriers and consistently developing/strengthening appropriate frameworks:
- (nn) Support the World Bank Investment Framework for Clean Energy and Development.

#### **B.** Industrial development

- 4. Industrial development is crucial for sustained economic growth, eradicating poverty and employment creation, as well as the achievement of the internationally agreed development goals, including the Millennium Development Goals. There is a mutually reinforcing relationship between industrial development, social advancement and environmental protection.
- 5. In that context, countries have the right to decide their own industrial development strategies, on the basis of the level, rate and pace of their development as well as their capacity.
- 6. Sustainable natural resources use offers an essential path to reduce costs, increase competitiveness and employment, and reduce environmental degradation.
- 7. National Government policies and actions may include the following actions:

07-26343 **9** 

- (a) Formulate national policy frameworks that create an enabling environment for industrial development and diversification, including through appropriate regulations and enhancing domestic environmental governance by creating incentives for the adoption of improved environmental management practices and environmentally sound technologies;
- (b) Develop and strengthen the productive capacity of developing countries by scaling up the technical and financial resource flows for basic infrastructure and facilitating foreign direct investment;
- (c) Encourage United Nations continuing efforts to assist developing countries in building capacities for environmental impact assessments;
- (d) Develop policies that focus on the utilization of marine resources, aquaculture industries, seafood processing and trade-investment promotion, especially in small island developing States;
- (e) Strengthen investment in capacity-building, education and skills development to enhance the industrial skill base, to improve employment and entrepreneurship opportunities for women and youth, and to reduce any negative social impacts, when applicable, related to industrial restructuring;
- (f) Support technological upgrading for sustainable industrial development, including through building capacity of standards, testing and certification bodies, and stronger industry-academia collaboration on research and development;
- (g) Promote more sustainable patterns of production and consumption, with developed countries taking the lead, including through more efficient use of natural resources, pollution reduction, waste minimization and recycling, as well as through education and awareness-raising to change consumer behaviour towards more sustainable lifestyles;
- (h) Promote ecotourism in developing countries, including in least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States;
- (i) Provide technical, managerial and financial support to small and medium-sized enterprises, in particular for the adoption of more efficient production methods, including through enhanced involvement of financial institutions;
  - (i) Promote innovation, entrepreneurship and venture capital financing;
- (k) Enhance access to credit, including microfinancing, to small-scale entrepreneurs, including women.
- 8. Industrial development is closely linked to the further integration of developing countries and countries with economies in transition in international trade. In that context:
- (a) Improve market access for products of importance to developing countries and work towards a successful completion of the Doha round of multilateral trade negotiations;
- (b) Support trade-related capacity-building, including for customs procedures simplification, trade promotion, product certification and quality control, so that products can meet international standards;

- (c) Support technology transfer on favourable terms and mobilize financial resources for sustainable industrial development in developing countries;
- (d) Strengthen North-South and South-South technology cooperation, including between research and development institutions in developed and developing countries, with sharing of intellectual property and know-how;
- (e) Enhance corporate environmental and social responsibility, taking into account International Labour Organization core labour standards;
- (f) Greater emphasis should be placed by the United Nations system on promotional and information-dissemination activities relating to investment opportunities in developing countries.

#### C. Air pollution/atmosphere

- 9. Air pollution is a major threat to human health and the environment that should be addressed in an integrated manner at the national, regional and international levels.
- (a) Integrate reduction of indoor air pollution into national sustainable development strategies, poverty reduction strategy papers and other national development plans, emphasizing access by women and the poor to clean cooking and heating technologies;
- (b) Accelerate the switch from traditional biomass to cleaner fuels, including liquefied petroleum gas, for cooking and heating, and support efforts to disseminate improved cooking stoves;
- (c) Address gender-specific aspects of air pollution and improve women's access to modern energy services;
- (d) Improve knowledge concerning the health effects and sources of indoor air pollution, and provide financial resources to prevent adverse health impacts due to indoor air pollution in developing countries;
- (e) Replicate and scale up successful approaches and best practices on indoor air pollution, including the Partnership for Clean Indoor Air;
- (f) Promote air quality standards to control emissions from industry and transport;
- (g) Improve control of emissions from different sources to mitigate air pollution;
- (h) Enhance cooperation and technical assistance to control air pollution from gas flaring and venting;
- (i) Support the Marrakech Process to address issues of sustainable production and consumption;
- (j) Reduce air pollution in urban areas through improved and comprehensive land-use planning;
- (k) Improve urban air quality through the utilization of cleaner fuels, such as natural gas, for vehicles and thermo-power generation;

- (l) Expand the use of cleaner technologies, including renewable energy technologies;
- (m) Assist developing countries in the transfer of efficient and environmentally sound technologies, traffic management know-how and related capacity-building;
- (n) Implement the World Health Organization Global Air Quality Guidelines as the basis for national air quality standards;
  - (o) Promote public and mass transport systems;
  - (p) Strengthen vehicle inspection procedures and improve maintenance;
- (q) Promote use of low emission, energy-efficient vehicles through market incentives;
- (r) Support the Partnership for Clean Fuels and Vehicles in phasing out the remaining use of leaded gasoline, and work to reduce sulphur content in fuels;
- (s) Increase efforts to control emissions resulting from the extraction and refining of oil;
- (t) Assist developing countries in building capacity for monitoring, measuring and assessing the impacts of air pollution, including health impacts;
- (u) Enhance capacity-building, strengthen institutions and involve all relevant stakeholders in the work of improving air quality, including in least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States;
- (v) Improve compilation and analysis of data in monitoring air pollution and human health;
  - (w) Increase cooperation on sound and updated scientific knowledge;
- (x) Promote training to improve methodologies for assessing atmospheric pollution;
- (y) Strengthen systematic observation of the Earth's atmosphere by means of ground-based and satellite monitoring systems;
- (z) Support efforts to reduce air pollutants from aviation and maritime sources;
- (aa) Assist countries with significant desert areas in building capacity for early warning and monitoring of dust and sandstorms;
- (bb) Enforce international control over illegal trade in ozone-depleting substances, including through the provision of resources and appropriate technology transfer:
- (cc) Involve international financial institutions and international financial mechanisms in efforts to address air and atmospheric pollution;
- (dd) Enhance regional cooperation to reduce air pollution, including through joint research and monitoring, and technical assistance;

- (ee) Encourage the sharing of regional experiences to address transboundary air pollution, such as the 1979 Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution:
- (ff) Transfer affordable, efficient and environmentally sound technologies on favourable terms, as mutually agreed, to mitigate air pollution;
- (gg) Encourage Governments to adopt appropriate regulation to mitigate air pollution.

#### D. Climate change

- 10. Climate change is not just an environmental issue; it is an issue firmly placed in the context of sustainable development and it requires the urgent attention of the international community. Decisions taken are meant to complement but not duplicate the work of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and its Kyoto Protocol. In that context:
- (a) Enhance technology cooperation and information-sharing on climate-friendly and low-carbon technologies;
- (b) Strengthen North-South, South-South and triangular cooperation in research, development and demonstration initiatives;
- (c) Support and accelerate the development, deployment and diffusion of low carbon energy technologies, including energy-efficiency technologies, renewable-energy technologies, and cleaner and advanced fossil-fuel technologies;
- (d) Increase financial incentives for the use of advanced energy technologies, including cleaner fossil-fuel technologies, energy-efficiency technologies and renewable energy technologies;
- (e) Move towards a longer-term strategy, including strengthening the carbon market;
- (f) Policies and actions should be based on the principles of sustainable development, and should recognize that poverty eradication and economic development are the overriding priorities of developing countries;
- (g) Future action must be in accordance with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, as well as relevant principles enshrined in the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development;
- (h) Implement climate policies and actions that yield co-benefits, including improved public health, in the areas of energy efficiency, air pollution and industrial development;
  - (i) Promote fuel efficiency in the transport sector;
- (j) Enhance carbon sinks through improved land-use management, afforestation and reforestation;
- (k) Encourage participatory approaches to address climate change, including regional cooperation and partnerships, as well as public-private partnerships;
- (l) Promote the participation of the private sector in combating climate change;

- (m) Involve women in all aspects of decision-making relating to adaptation and mitigation, including with respect to disaster-risk reduction and choice of adaptation technologies;
- (n) Encourage the integration of climate policies and actions into national sustainable development strategies and poverty reduction strategies with respect to both adaptation and mitigation;
- (o) Mainstream climate change adaptation and mitigation into development cooperation activities;
- (p) Improve access to the financial and technological assistance available for adaptation, especially by developing countries;
- (q) Integrate lessons learned and experiences accumulated under disasterreduction activities into adaptation planning and response measures;
- (r) Increase community resilience to climate change-related disasters by protecting natural resources, including through such activities as mangrove restoration, reforestation and rangeland rehabilitation;
- (s) Build capacity to enable prediction of the timing, frequency and scale of impacts, as well as training for technical capabilities to cope with the adverse impacts of climate change;
- (t) Promote the dissemination of studies on the long-term impacts of climate change with a view to informing policy goals;
- (u) Support research and analysis of specific impacts of climate change in different regions through observation, information-sharing and technical training;
- (v) Strengthen systematic climate observation networks by enhancing the research and dissemination of related information;
- (w) Enhance capacity-building at the national level in all areas related to climate change;
- (x) Identify new and additional financial initiatives specifically dedicated to climate change in the context of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change;
- (y) Develop and strengthen national institutional capacities for participation in the Clean Development Mechanism and Joint Implementation, where appropriate;
- (z) Strengthen existing funding mechanisms for adaptation activities, as well as improving accessibility of developing countries to these funds, inter alia, for economic diversification to minimize adverse impacts of response measures;
- (aa) Utilize insurance markets to minimize the risks associated with climate change impacts;
- (bb) Support early warning, risk management and disaster reduction and response measures for developing countries, particularly the most vulnerable, such as small island developing States and least developed countries.

#### E. Interlinkages and cross-cutting issues, including means of implementation

- 11. An integrated approach to the four thematic issues, addressing in a balanced way the social, economic and environmental pillars of sustainable development, would enhance effectiveness and assist in the realization of co-benefits of policy action. Cross-cutting issues need to be mainstreamed into policy approaches, programmes and development cooperation activities. The means of implementation are critical to turning commitments into actions. In that context:
- (a) Reinforce efforts to implement commitments in the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development, notably early and full realization of the 0.7 per cent official development assistance target;
- (b) Ensure greater access to sources of finance for developing countries, including through means of leveraging public and private resources;
- (c) Provide better access to funds and simplified reporting procedures for small island developing States and least developed countries under multilateral funding mechanisms;
- (d) Develop innovative sources of finance for implementing measures in the four thematic areas in an integrated manner;
- (e) Enhance adequate financial resources to support African countries, least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States in the effective implementation of national sustainable development strategies;
- (f) Promote technical capacity-building and know-how, including through support from multilateral financial institutions;
- (g) Establish financial mechanisms, including disbursal of loans with extended repayment time frames, microfinance schemes and revolving funds;
- (h) Strengthen arrangements and incentives for technology transfer on favourable terms to developing countries, including the least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States, taking into account the need to balance rewards to innovators and the need for affordable access to technologies by developing countries;
- (i) Increase investments in research and development to develop new, advanced and cleaner energy technologies and other key technologies to address implementation in the thematic cluster;
- (j) Strengthen technology cooperation, including research and development collaboration, on technologies of importance to addressing implementation in the thematic cluster;
- (k) Promote North-South, South-South and triangular cooperation, as well as regional and subregional cooperation;
- (l) The international agencies to provide greater support to South-South and triangular technology cooperation and sharing;
- (m) Support through technical assistance the strengthening of scientific and technological capabilities in developing countries, including through establishment of world class centres of excellence and "virtual universities";

- (n) Promote effective and full implementation of the Bali Strategic Plan for Technology Support and Capacity-Building;
- (o) Mainstream the issues of energy for sustainable development, industrial development, air pollution/atmosphere and climate change into national sustainable development strategies and poverty reduction strategies, and enhance access to energy as a means of achieving the Millennium Development Goals;
- (p) Strengthen governance at all levels and in both the public and private sectors to advance progress on the sustainable development agenda in the four thematic areas:
- (q) Build public-sector capacity for integrated planning and coordination of policymaking in the area of sustainable development across all relevant departments and ministries;
- (r) Build partnerships at all levels and involve all interested and committed stakeholders in addressing implementation challenges in this thematic cluster;
- (s) Involve the private sector more actively in implementation, including through the creation of an enabling environment for private-sector investment and the enhancement of corporate environmental and social responsibility and accountability;
- (t) Recognize the importance of sustainable patterns of production and consumption and, in this context, support the Marrakech process and its task forces;
- (u) Recognize and utilize effectively the knowledge and experience of the nine major groups as identified in Agenda 21 with respect to natural resource management, as well as the need for their effective participation in decision-making processes;
- (v) Encourage the creation of an enabling environment for investment by removing barriers and consistently developing/strengthening appropriate frameworks;
- (w) Strengthen educational initiatives in sustainable development in general, including in the context of the United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development, as well as scholarship programmes and educational exchanges;
- (x) Improve understanding about the linkages between economic, social and environmental aspects of lifestyles and individual behaviour through strengthening the role of education and raising awareness on sustainable development;
  - (y) Enhance gender mainstreaming in all areas of sustainable development.

## F. Review and follow-up

12. Review and follow-up progress in the implementation of decisions taken by the Commission at its fifteenth session during one or two days at the sessions of the Commission to be held in 2010/2011 and 2014/2015.

# III. Adoption of the report of the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting

- 23. At its 9th meeting, on 2 March 2007, the Meeting had before it its draft report, as contained in document E/CN.17/IPM/2007/L.2.
- 24. At the same meeting, the Meeting adopted the report and took note of the Chairman's draft negotiating text for transmittal to the Commission on Sustainable Development at its fifteenth session (see para. 22 above).